THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III

Master in Equity and Special Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2011-CP-07-01778

Appellate Case No. 2014-002712

RECEIVED

APR 13 2016

SC Court of Appeals

BENJAMIN GECY,.....APPELLANT,

V.

SOUTH CAROLINA BANK & TRUST, JAIME HAMNER and
DEBORAH HAMNER.....RESPONDENTS.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Robert V. Mathison, Jr.
Attorney for Appellant
Benjamin Gecy

MATHISON & MATHISON
Post Office Box 5271
Hilton Head, SC 29938
Telephone: (843) 785-6503
Email: rmathlaw@aol.com

April 8, 2016

Hilton Head Island, South Carolina.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Plaintiff, Benjamin C. Gecy (herein "the Plaintiff," "Mr. Gecy" or simply "Gecy"), on April 15, 2011, filed a Summons and Verified Complaint naming as defendants South Carolina Bank & Trust (herein "Defendant SCB&T" or "SCB&T," though many quotations from the record use the more abbreviated "SCBT"), and Jaime Hamner and Deborah Hamner (herein, collectively, "the Hamner Defendants," "Mr. and Mrs. Hamner," or simply "the Hamners"). The Defendants duly answered.

Subsequently, on or about June 14, 2011, The Plaintiff filed and thereafter served his First Amended and Verified Complaint bearing that date in which he set forth five causes of action and demanded a jury trial. The five causes of action stated were: (1) Tortious interference with contract, which was brought against Defendant SCB&T only; (2) breach of contract, which was brought against the Hamner Defendants only; (3) civil conspiracy, which was brought against both SCB&T and the Hamner Defendants; (4) negligent misrepresentation, which was also brought against both SCB&T and the Hamner Defendants; and (5) unfair trade practices, which was brought against SCB&T only.

The Defendants answered, and the Hamner Defendants counterclaimed, primarily for the return of earnest money they had paid, as well as for a deposit made to convert a slab foundation to one elevated on piers over a crawl space.

This case began as essentially a controversy about two contracts between Mr. Gecy and the Hamner Defendants. The first contract dated February 3, 2010 (herein "the Real Estate Contract"), called for the sale of a 6.88 parcel of land at 10 Meredith Lane on Lady's Island in Beaufort County (herein, sometimes, referred to as "the Real Property") by Mr. Gecy to Mr. and Mrs. Hamner for the price of \$150,000.00. The second contract was also dated February

3, 2010, and it called for the construction of a house by Gecy on the Real Property (herein "the Construction Contract") in return for the payment of \$156,900.00.

The case then unfolded in normal course. On March 19, 2012, the Defendant SCB&T filed a motion for summary judgment that was supported by a single affidavit, namely, that of Diana G. Chalmers in which she swore that she had "[a]t all times...declined to sign [a] Road Maintenance Agreement." Chalmers' Affidavit dated November 7, 2011 [herein after referred to as "the Chalmers' Affidavit"]. (R. p. 271.)

The Hamner Defendants subsequently "joined" in this motion, though they never filed one of their own.

On May 8, 2012, the Plaintiffs' counsel was relieved of the obligation to represent Mr. Gecy any longer. Shortly thereafter, on or about July 7, 2012, Mr. Gecy filed for Chapter 7 Bankruptcy protection in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of South Carolina.

This case was then stayed until after Mr. Gecy was discharged, at which time, in November of 2013, the case was restored to the active roster. So also was the motion for summary judgment restored to the motions roster. That led the Plaintiff, who was constrained after the Bankruptcy to proceed in this case *pro se*, to request the opportunity to conduct additional discovery. His request was granted, and all parties agreed on the date of February 21, 2013, as the date on which the summary judgment would be heard.

Thereafter, the Plaintiff served on the Defendants additional written discovery, including requests for admissions, requests for the production of documents and interrogatories. To some of these timely responses were made. To others, however, the Defendants, and, particularly, SCB&T, interposed objections and refused to respond otherwise.

Accordingly, prior to the summary judgment hearing on February 21, 2013, the Plaintiff

filed a motion to compel and a motion to continue the hearing until such time as (a) the Defendants furnished such written discovery as might be ordered in response to the motion to compel, and (b) the Plaintiff had taken two additional depositions, for which he had given notice, but which, due to the notice period and conflicts of defense counsel, could not be held before the summary judgement hearing.

At the hearing on February 21, 2013, Defendant SCB&T presented to the Court and to the Plaintiff a brief contending that it owed no duty to the Plaintiff. A copy of the brief had been emailed to the Plaintiff the day before the hearing. SCB&T also served an additional affidavit, and the Hamner Defendants presented a revised and amplified affidavit by Jaime Hamner.

Largely ignoring the issue raised by the Chalmers' Affidavit, which had been the platform for and the focus of the motion for summary judgment at the outset, the Defendant SCB&T refused to consent to the continuance, pointed out the length of time that had elapsed since the case had been commenced, and took the position that, because no duty was owed to the Plaintiff, factual questions that might be resolved through additional discovery were simply immaterial.

Evidently convinced by that argument, the trial judge denied the motion for a continuance. And, because the continuance had been sought to afford additional time for discovery not yet provided or completed, and despite his having heard argument about what that unfinished discovery would establish, by denying the motion for a continuance, the Master also effectively denied the motion to compel by implication.

Thereafter, by Order dated June 5, 2014, the trial judge awarded summary judgment to both Defendants as to all of the Plaintiffs five causes of action. In doing so, he relied upon an inapplicable statute--S.C. Code Ann. § 37-10-107—as well as upon a Circuit Court decision by Judge Roger M. Young (the *Kerr* case), to hold that the Defendant SCB&T owed no legal duty

to the Plaintiff.

The Plaintiff timely filed and served a motion for reconsideration under Rules 52 and 59, SCRCP. That motion was heard on August 5, 2014.

By order filed on September 18, 2014, the trial judge revised his previous order to delete any reliance on the inapplicable statute. He also adopted the reasoning in *Kerr v. Branch Banking & Trust Co.*, 408 S.C. 328, 759 S.E.2d 724 (2014), now as decided by the South Carolina Supreme Court, to hold that Defendant SCB&T owed no legal duty to the Plaintiff. In all other respects, however, he embraced his previous decision, thereby confirming the award of summary judgment to both Defendants with respect to all five causes of action in the Plaintiffs Complaint.

This appeal followed.

On appeal, the Plaintiff, as appellant, challenges both the Order dated June 5, 2014, and the Order dated and filed on or about September 18, 2014, and, specifically, the award of summary judgment to all Defendants, but only with respect to the causes of action for intentional interference with contract, breach of contract and negligent misrepresentation.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The evidentiary facts from the Statement of the Case are hereby adopted and by express reference made a part of this Statement of the Facts.

In January of 2010, Mr. Gecy and Mr. and Mrs. Hamner began negotiations about the sale of the Real Property, comprising 6.88 acres of land on Meredith Lane at Lady's Island, in Beaufort County, South Carolina.

It became clear that the Hamners would need to sell the home that they owned at 11 Southern Magnolia Drive in order to make the purchase. Mr. Gecy agreed to assist, and, with his help, a buyer for the Hamners' home was identified. Thus, on or about January 28, 2010, Mr. and Mrs. Hamner executed a contract to sell their existing home.

Also, within the same time period, Mr. Gecy received an offer from a third party to buy approximately one-half of the Real Property at 10 Meredith Lane. However, upon being advised of the offer, Mr. and Mrs. Hamner reassured Mr. Gecy of their intention to purchase the entire 6.88 acres, and so Gecy turned down the offer.

On or about February 3, 2010, the parties made good their intentions by signing both the Real Estate and the Construction Contracts. Once the parties had executed the contracts, upon the recommendation of Mr. Gecy, who was then a customer of SCB&T, Mr. and Mrs. Hamner were referred to Bruce VanHorn at SCB&T to obtain financing in order to fund their obligations under the two contracts in question.

Each of the contracts contained a financing contingency that allowed the Hamners to apply for 100% financing, and, if they failed to qualify, to be exonerated from the duty to perform. The contracts also provided that, if through no fault of the parties, one or more conditions failed to occur on or before the scheduled closing date, the contracts would be

automatically extended for an additional 30 days to allow the problem or problems to be resolved.

After initiating their relationship with SCB&T, Jaime Hamner identified Doug Jacobs as the loan officer with whom he was dealing. In response to inquiries by Mr. Gecy, both Jaime Hamner and Doug Jacobs represented to Mr. Gecy that the Hamners had applied for a "VA loan," meaning a loan guaranteed by the Department of Veterans Affairs (herein sometimes "VA").

In addition, Mr. Hamner told Mr. Gecy that the loan for which he had applied had a fixed rate.

SCB&T thereupon notified the parties that, because Meredith Lane was a private road, the bank would require a road maintenance agreement (herein after "the Road Maintenance Agreement" or "RMA"), which was an instrument to assure the continued upkeep of the road. The VA handbook, in certain circumstances, required an RMA, so neither the Plaintiff nor the closing attorney, who was representing both the seller and the buyers, initially thought anything was amiss.

However, the underwriting guidelines for conventional loans do not require an RMA, and, at that time, neither did those for FHA loans. Therefore, both seemed like viable alternatives if obtaining the RMA proved to be problematic.

SCB&T ordered an appraisal of the Real Property, as well as of the proposed improvements thereon, from Patrice Moody of Coastal Appraisal Service. The request was not for a VA qualified appraisal.

Furthermore, Ms. Moody owned a residence on property in the vicinity of the Real Property that she had been commissioned to appraise. That made the choice of appraisers

questionable in view of the fact the certain property owners living on Meredith Lane, such as John Ferguson, were known to oppose any further development in the neighborhood.

On or about February 25, 2010, Ms. Moody issued her appraisal valuing the land only at 10 Meredith Lane at \$115,000.00, which was less than the purchase price, but valuing the land, with the completed house thereon, at \$330,000.00, which was more than sufficient to cover the price of the land, plus the cost of construction.

Mr. and Mrs. Hamner desired a change in the house plans, specifically, a raised foundation, with a crawl space underneath, instead of a slab. In order to make this modification, on or about March 5, 2010, the Plaintiff and the Hamner Defendants signed an addendum to the contracts, and the Plaintiff required the deposit with him by the Hamners of \$12,400.00, which was the increase in price.

March 5, 2010, also was the closing date established in both of the contracts. The closing date was extended, however, in accordance with the automatic extension provision in the contracts, until Monday, April 5, 2010.

Also, because the Plaintiff was concerned that he might not get paid the full purchase price of the Real Property at closing, SCB&T authorized the Plaintiff, at his cost, to obtain another independent appraisal. An appraiser, Murray Steen, subsequently submitted a new appraisal in which the Real Property was valued at \$150,000.00, and the land with a completed house thereon was valued at \$405,000.00. SCB&T accepted the new appraisal without qualification.

In the interim, however, it had become clear that, despite the protests of both the Plaintiff and Mr. Ken Tootle, the closing attorney, Mr. Doug Jacobs, on the behalf of SCB&T, was insisting that the Road Maintenance Agreement be signed by all persons whose property

adjoined Meredith Lane. This included known opponents of development, such as John Ferguson.

Inquiries to Mr. Jacobs had led him to reveal that the Hamners had a construction loan that was "rolling into" a permanent VA loan. Because the end loan supposedly would have a VA guarantee, Mr. Jacobs insisted that VA guidelines applied, and that those guidelines required every property owner on the road to sign the RMA.

Although Mr. Jacobs' interpretation was disputed by the closing attorney, and no provision of the VA Handbook appears to validate Mr. Jacobs' insistence upon it, the Plaintiff and the closing attorney made the effort to comply. An RMA was prepared by the closing attorney, in which everyone who had an interest in any title to land adjoining Meredith Lane was named, despite the fact that such was wholly unnecessary to assure continued upkeep of the road.

Because Mr. Gecy had a recorded easement over and across Meredith Lane, which was 50 feet wide, and which he proposed to convey to the Hamner Defendants along with the Real Property, the RMA was not intended to cure a title problem but only to resolve how the cost of upkeep would be apportioned.

By email dated March 6, 2010, SCB&T approved the proposed RMA and advised the closing attorney to notify the bank of "when this will [be] signed so that we can get a firm closing date."

On or about the same date, Defendant SCB&T also acknowledged that having the RMA signed was the final and only condition to the bank's funding of the Hamner Defendants' loan.

However, on or about March 10, 2010, Jaime Hamner notified the Plaintiff that he had decided not to go through with the purchase. That same day a meeting was held by Mr. Hamner and the closing attorney, at which time the latter explained the automatic extension provisions in

the contracts, as well as the current status of the Road Maintenance Agreement. Although it was not known by the Plaintiff at that time, SCB&T had also issued a credit denial to the Hamners, which was dated March 10, 2015, and was based, in pertinent part, on the failure to obtain the Road Maintenance Agreement.

Thereafter, the Plaintiff dutifully pursued obtaining the signatures that appeared in the RMA. He secured the written approval of several property owners, as well as the promise by others to attend and sign at the closing.

The Plaintiff also obtained what he believed to be a promise to sign the RMA by Ed and Diana Chalmers, as confirmed by their email dated April 16, 2010 (R. p. 1056), provided only that the Plaintiff complied with certain terms, to which he had agreed.

Finally, and most significantly, on or about March 26, 2010, the Plaintiff met with John Ferguson and a surveyor on Meredith Lane at or near the Peal Property. Mr. Hamner had been intimidated by Mr. Ferguson because of his status as a Deputy Sheriff and his previously very outspoken opposition to any development of the Real Property.

However, upon learning that the Plaintiff had a recorded easement, as well as the dimensions of it, Mr. Ferguson agreed to sign the RMA. He also agreed to call Mr. Hamner to give him the good news that he would not hold up the Hamners' closing, which he did, leading Mr. Hamner to thank him.

The following day, March 27, 2010, Mr. Hamner sent to the Plaintiff an email in which he described in detail the porch design that he desired for the house that the Plaintiff was contractually bound to build. Mr. Hamner also supplied color choices for the exterior of the house upon which he and his wife had decided. This email led the Plaintiff to believe that the Hamner Defendants were committed to closing the transaction.

The Plaintiff had Mr. Ferguson sign the RMA. He also advised the closing attorney of Mr. Ferguson's unexpected cooperation. The closing attorney's office, via telephone and email, commencing on Tuesday, March 30, 2010, attempted to obtain the loan package from SCB&T and to schedule the closing.

The attempts continued through April 5, 2010. However, nobody at the bank, including the SCB&T loan officer, Mr. Jacobs, would respond.

Therefore, on Monday, April 5, 2010, the extended date for the closing, Mr. Gecy, himself sent an email to Mr. Jacobs to advise him that all of the persons named in the RMA had signed, or had agreed to sign, and he requested that the remaining signatures be an "at closing condition," so that those who had not yet signed could do so at the closing.

Instead of responding directly to Mr. Gecy's request, at 3:20 p.m. on April 5, 2010, Mr. Jacobs advised Mr. Gecy, and the closing attorney, by email that there would be additional requirements for the closing: According to Mr. Jacobs, in order to fund the loan, SCB&T required the Plaintiff to furnish (a) a copy of the survey, (b) an aerial view of Meredith Lane and (c) the tax records identifying all owners whose property adjoined Meredith Lane.

These were all furnished promptly, despite the fact that the demand for them constituted an unexpected, *post facto* demand by the bank—the same bank which had already approved the form and content of the RMA.

On April 7, and again on April 8, 2010, the closing attorney's office requested a closing date. Finally, on April 8, 2010, SCB&T's loan officer responded via email, "I am waiting on Mr. Hamner to call me back and will let you know when I hear from him."

Indeed, everyone was waiting on Mr. Hamner because the Plaintiff had neither seen nor heard from him since he sent his email on March 27, 2010.

Despite receiving copies of most of the email correspondence since his own email to the Plaintiff on March 27, 2010, Mr. Hamner remained silent, in so far as the Plaintiff and the closing attorney were concerned, for 12 days, through April 8, 2010, which, according to Mr. Hamner's deposition testimony, was because he was "out of town attending a conference."

However, he must have found the time to speak to a lawyer other than the closing attorney during that same period because, on April 9, 2010, a lawyer to whom SCB&T refers a large percentage of its loans, Frampton Harper, II, wrote a letter on Mr. Hamner's behalf to the closing attorney stating that Mr. Hamner considered "the contract to purchase the acreage located at 10 Meredith Lane . . . null and void." The reason given for that contention was that the Hamner Defendants' financing had been declined because of the "property appraisal" and the Plaintiffs failure to deliver a valid Road Maintenance Agreement by April 5, 2010.

On the following day, April 10, 2010, the closing attorney responded to Mr. Harper by letter setting forth his understanding that all conditions had been met or excused.

Additional facts, most of which were learned through discovery, are discussed in the Argument that follows.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

This case is an appeal from an order granting both Defendants summary judgment with respect to each of five causes of action set forth by the Plaintiff in his First Amended and Verified Complaint dated June 14, 2011 [herein after referred to as "the Complaint"]. (R. p. 084.)

Thus, the standard of review can be stated clearly:

When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard applied by the trial court pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC. *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002)(citation omitted). Summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, affidavits and discovery on file show there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law. *Id.*; Rule 56(c), SCRPC. When determining if any triable issues of fact exist, the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Fleming*, 350 S.C. at 493-94, 567 S.E.2d at 860 (citation omitted). In order to withstand a motion for summary judgment in cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence. *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). In cases involving [an] heightened burden of proof, the non-moving party must submit more than a mere scintilla of evidence to withstand a motion for summary judgment. *Id.* At 330-31, 673 S.E.2d at 803. *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C.116, 121-22, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011)(quotation marks omitted)[herein after referred to as "*Turner*"].

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