THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Thomas A. Russo, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-CP-21-00916

RECEIVED
MAY 07 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Beneficial Financial I, Inc., successor by merger to
Beneficial Mortgage Co. of South Carolina, Appellant

v.

Jon Windham, a/k/a Jon D. Windham; Frances Windham, a/k/a
Frances C. Windham; and Jerry Coker, a/k/a Jerry L. Coker;
Carolina Bank & Trust Co.; The United States of America, by
and through its agency, the Internal Revenue Service; and
The Citizens Bank, Defendants

Of Whom Jon Windham is the Respondent

Appellate Case No. 2017-001954

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

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

II. Standard of Review

“‘In reviewing an order for summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.’ *M & M Grp., Inc., v. holmes*, 379 S.C. 468, 473, 666 S.E.2d 262, 264 (Ct. App. 2008). ‘Summary judgment is appropriate when ‘the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.’ *Id.* (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRCF). ‘On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the appellant, the non-moving party below.’ *Id.* (quoting *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 151, 607 S.E.2d 63, 65(2004)). *Gecy v. S.C. Bank & Trust, et al.*, No. 2014-002712 (Ct. App. Feb. 21, 2018).

III. BFI failed to properly preserve any issue for review on appeal and thus the trial court's entry of summary judgment is due to be affirmed

It is well settled law in South Carolina that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 566, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). Rather, the specific issue being appealed must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved. *Id.* See also *Llapp v. S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 387 S.C. 500, 507, 692 S.E.2d 565, 569 (Ct. App. 2010) (“To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the [circuit] court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the [circuit] court with sufficient specificity.”). In *Foster v. Foster*, the Court of Appeals specifically ruled that where the appellants only argued one issue at the summary judgment hearing and then sought to raise an additional argument on appeal, that the appellant had failed to preserve the issue for review. 384 S.C. 380, 385, 682 S.E.2d 312, 315 (Ct. App. 2009). Because the appellants failed to raise their argument to the trial court, the issue was not preserved for review. *Foster*, 384 S.C. at 386, 682 S.E.2d at 315. *S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007) (holding that in order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge).

In this matter, the one and only argument raised by BFI at the hearing on Windham's summary judgment motion dealt with Windham's UTPA claim. (R. pp. 55-56). Specifically, BFI alleged that “the loan payments were applied per the loan contract” and that “there was a promise to modify the loan that was not kept.” (R. p. 55, lines 4-8). BFI

referred the trial court to a bankruptcy case regarding the misapplication of loan payments and to an unpublished case for the premise that failure to modify a loan is not an unfair trade practice. Thereafter, the trial court specifically stated to BFI, “I think you kind of completely ignored their argument just now, did you not?” (R. p. 56, lines 8-9). Even with that prompting by the trial court, BFI never responded to Windham’s argument to the trial court that BFI’s repeated force-placement of insurance, when BFI knew Windham had insurance, was in fact an unfair trade practice. BFI did not submit any memorandum in opposition to the memorandum filed by Windham addressing each of the six claims submitted for summary judgment. The only argument made by BFI at the summary judgment hearing failed to even address Windham’s argument that BFI’s force-placement of insurance on Windham’s home, when BFI had knowledge that his home was insured, constituted an unfair trade practice. Therefore, pursuant to the law set forth above, it is clear that BFI failed to preserve any of the arguments raised by their appellate brief. Accordingly, the trial court’s entry of summary judgment is due to be affirmed.

IV. The trial court properly entered summary judgment in favor of Windham as there were no genuine issues of material fact

“A court considering summary judgment neither makes factual determinations nor considers the merits of competing testimony; however, summary judgment is completely appropriate when a properly supported motion sets forth facts that remain undisputed or are contested in a deficient manner.” *Gecy v. S.C. Bank & Trust, et al.*, No. 2014-002712, p.4 (Ct. App. Feb. 21, 2018) (internal citations omitted). Once the moving party has carried its initial burden in demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, the

opposing party may not rest on the denials of their pleading, but rather, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. *Midland Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Harrell*, 331 S.C. 394, 397, 503 S.E.2d 189, 190 (Ct. App. 1998). “The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder.” *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 438 (2003) (citations omitted).

BFI argues that Windham was granted summary judgment by default. That is clearly not accurate. As set forth above, a trial court considering summary judgment neither makes factual determinations nor considers the merits of competing testimony; however, summary judgment is completely appropriate when a properly supported motion sets forth facts that remain undisputed or are contested in a deficient manner. Here, the record is clear that Windham’s motion was in fact and law properly supported. BFI chose not to file any opposition to the law submitted by Windham. BFI’s failure to comply with the rules of civil procedure and produce a witness for deposition, its consent to the order providing sanctions should BFI fail to produce a witness for the final noticed deposition, and BFI’s intentional disregard of that consent order makes clear there was no issue of material fact before the trial court. Therefore, the only remaining question is whether Windham was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. As set forth herein, Windham was entitled to judgment as a matter of law and the trial court’s order granting summary judgment is due to be affirmed.

V. **The trial court properly entered summary judgment in favor of Windham as Windham was entitled to judgment as a matter of law**

1. **BFI's placement of force-placed insurance on Windham's property, when BFI knew the property was insured, and BFI's failure to modify Windham's mortgage were unfair trade practices in violation of UPTA**

“To recover in an action under the UTPA, [Windham] must show: (1) [BFI] engaged in an unfair or deceptive act in the conduct of trade or commerce; (2) the unfair or deceptive act affected public interest; and (3) [Windham] suffered monetary or property loss as a result of the [BFI]’s unfair or deceptive acts(s).” *Soberanis v. City Title Loan, LLC*, 2:16-4034-RMG, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 50114, *20 (D.S.C. April 3, 2017) (quoting *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 640 S.E.2d 486, 498 (S.C. Ct. App. 2006)). An impact on the public interest may be shown if the acts or practices have the potential for repetition. *Singleton v. Stokes Motors, Inc.*, 358 S.C. 369, 595 S.E.2d 461, 466 (S.C. 2004) (citing *Crary v. Djebelli*, 329 S.C. 385, 496 S.E.2d 21, 23 (S.C. 1998)). The potential for repetition may be shown by (1) showing the same kind of actions occurred in the past, thus making it likely they will continue to occur absent deterrence; or (2) showing the company's procedures created a potential for repetition of the unfair and deceptive acts.” *Soberanis*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 50114 at *21, (quoting *Wright*, 640 S.E.2d at 501-02). “These two ways are not the only means for showing the potential for repetition or public impact, and each case must be evaluated on its own merits to determine what a plaintiff must show to satisfy the potential for repetition/public impact prong of the UTPA.” *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1,31; 460 S.E.2d 486, 501 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Daisy Outdoor Adver. Co. v. Abbott*, 322 S.C. 489, 497; 473 S.E.2d 47, 51 (1996)). Ultimately, the public impact/public interest prong of the UTPA

must be determined on a case by case basis. *Sinclair & Assoc. of Greenville, LLC v. CresCom Bank*, 2:16-cv-00465-DCN, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 159340, *6 (D.S.C. November 17, 2016).

a. BFI Engaged in Unfair or Deceptive Practices

On appeal, BFI argues that “to the extent Borrower’s UTPA claim is based upon the Lender’s alleged failure to modify the Borrower’s claim, it fails.” (Appellant’s Brief, p. 8). However, Windham’s UTPA claim is not based upon BFI’s generic failure to modify a loan, but rather, on BFI’s wrongful force-placement of insurance on Windham’s property when BFI had knowledge that the property was already properly insured by Windham, by taking Windham’s monthly payments and wrongfully applying the payments to interest and fees, by unilaterally refusing to accept any further payments from Windham, and by refusing to offer a loan modification after telling Windham to pay \$12,000 in trial plan payments for a loan modification. (R. p. 31, lines 7-14). The actions of BFI were unequivocally unfair and deceptive. BFI fraudulently and intentionally told Windham to make bi-monthly payments of \$1,000.00 and that, after so doing, Windham would receive a loan modification. BFI received each payment automatically and without issue. After the final payment was made, Windham did not receive the promised loan modification nor did BFI ever offer to modify the loan. Instead, BFI pocketed Windham’s money, never told Windham that it had stopped accepting his payments, and ultimately instituted the foreclosure action instead of providing Windham the promised loan modification.

Additionally, BFI unfairly and wrongfully force-placed insurance on Windham’s property. Windham had homeowner’s insurance on his property, and that insurance had

never lapsed. BFI's forced placement of homeowner's insurance caused Windham's payments to rise to an unsustainably high level and BFI's failure to reimburse Windham and re-establish Windham's payments at the pre-error level were actions solely designed to maximize profits for BFI at the expense of Windham, a South Carolina resident. Importantly, in BFI's reply to Windham's counterclaims, BFI admitted that it force-placed insurance on Windham's property. In his affidavit, Windham stated that his homeowner's insurance was current and had never lapsed. (R. p. 91, lines 27-28 (¶1)). Windham also stated that he had repeatedly provided proof of his homeowner's insurance to BFI but BFI continued to force-place insurance. (R. p. 91, lines 28-30 (¶1)).

On appeal, BFI argues for the first time that its ability to force-place insurance on a home is governed by the mortgage and therefore, Windham's claim is simply a breach of contract claim rather than an unfair trade practice. (Appellant's Brief, p.8). That is simply incorrect. If Windham did not have insurance on his home, then BFI's right to force-place insurance on the property would be governed by the mortgage. However, in this case, Windham continually had insurance on his property, and BFI's force-placement of insurance, especially in light of BFI's knowledge that the property was properly insured, was an unfair trade practice. Additionally, Windham, both in his counterclaims and in his motion for summary judgment, specifically alleged that BFI's unfair trade practices affect the public interest and have the potential for repetition. (R. p. 31, lines 19-20; p. 80, lines 1-8).

b. The Actions of BFI affect the Public Interest and have the potential for repetition

The actions of BFI were in line with its policies and procedures and there is a clear

potential for repetition, particularly in light of BFI's actions of repeatedly force-placing insurance on Windham's home. BFI serviced numerous loans in South Carolina, as well as across the country. BFI has not asserted that its actions in this matter were, in any way, contrary to its policies and procedures. The actions of BFI as related to Windham were done under the authority of the same policies, procedures, and leadership that are in effect relating to every other loan managed, serviced, and/or written by BFI. While BFI's intentional refusal to appear for the deposition precluded Windham from taking testimony from BFI on its conduct, policies and procedures, Windham did offer evidence with his motion for summary judgment showing that other BFI consumers were suffering the same issues as Windham. (R. p. 80, lines 3-8). Again, it is important that BFI did not object to that evidence or file anything in opposition to that evidence. Therefore, there was undisputed evidence before the Court that BFI's actions affect the public interest and have the potential for repetition. Accordingly, the trial court's entry of summary judgment on Windham's UTPA claim is due to be affirmed.

BFI did not raise the remaining elements of a claim under the UTPA to this Court and therefore, those issues are waived.

2. Windham properly established he suffered physical and emotional distress damages as a result of BFI's intentional infliction of emotional distress.

BFI did not make any argument via brief or at the summary judgment hearing in opposition to Windham's claim that BFI intentionally inflicted emotional distress on him, and now raises this issue for the first time on appeal. While Windham asserts this issue was not properly preserved for appeal, Windham provides this response.

In response to the trial court's entry of summary judgment on Windham's Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress (IIED) claim, BFI's only allegation on appeal is that Windham's physical and emotional distress damages are insufficient as a matter of law. (Appellant's Brief, p.9). Therefore, BFI has admitted by its omission that the trial court properly found that (1) BFI intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress on Windham; (2) BFI's conduct was so extreme and outrageous as to exceed all possible bounds of decency and be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community, and (3) BFI's actions caused Windham's emotional distress. *Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers*, 306 S.C. 297, 302, 411 S.E.2d 664, 666 (1991) (internal quotations omitted). In *Ford v. Hutson*, the supreme court held that objective symptomatology is not an absolute prerequisite for recovery of damages for intentional infliction of emotional distress. 276 S.C. 157, 162, 276 S.E.2d 776, 778 (1981). Rather, a party can recover damages for emotional distress in the absence of physical impact or physical injury. *Id.*

Here, Windham testified in his affidavit that he has spent that last three years suffering with constant fear that he was going to lose his home as a result of BFI's unilateral and wrongful actions. (R. p. 93, lines 6-17). Windham testified that he continued making his monthly payments, even after BFI wrongfully force-placed insurance on his home and increased the payment, and that he paid \$12,000 in payments in response to BFI's promise that he would receive a loan modification. (R. p. 92). Windham has suffered great personal loss of time and money at the hands of BFI. (R. p. 93, lines 6-17). In addition, Windham testified that for the last several years he has been dealing with anxiety, embarrassment, humiliation, fear, loss of sleep, headaches and pain as a direct result of BFI's conduct. (R.

p. 93, lines 14-17). This testimony was uncontroverted by BFI and BFI offered no objection to said testimony. As Windham's testimony was specific and set out the severity of his emotional distress, his testimony was clearly not "a passing reference to fairly ordinary symptoms." *See Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C.*, 374 S.C. 352, 360, 650 S.E.2d 68, 72 (2007). Therefore, it is clear that Windham properly established the severe emotional distress necessary to sustain his claim. The trial court's entry of summary judgment on Windham's IIED claim is due to be affirmed.

3. Windham properly established his negligent and reckless training and supervision claims against BFI.

BFI did not make any argument via brief or at the summary judgment hearing in opposition to Windham's claim that BFI negligently and recklessly failed to train and supervise its employees, and now raises this issue for the first time on appeal. While Windham asserts this issue was not properly preserved for appeal, Windham provides this response.

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